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from time to time issue notes (the Notes) denominated in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined
below).

Notes may be issued in bearer or registered form (respectively Bearer Notes and Registered Notes). The maximum
aggregate nominal amount of all Notes from time to time outstanding under the Programme will not exceed U.S.$10,000,000,000 (or
its equivalent in other currencies calculated as described in the Programme Agreement described herein), subject to increase as
described herein.

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified under “Overview of the Programme”
and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to time by the Issuer (each a Dealer and together the Dealers),
which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis. References in this Base Prospectus to the relevant Dealer
shall, in the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers agreeing to
purchase such Notes.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. For a discussion of these risks see
“Risk Factors”.

Application has been made to the Financial Conduct Authority in its capacity as competent authority under the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the FSMA), (the UK Listing Authority) for Notes issued under the Programme during
the period of 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus to be admitted to the official list of the UK Listing Authority (the Official
List) and to the London Stock Exchange plc (the London Stock Exchange) for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London
Stock Exchange’s regulated market.

References in this Base Prospectus to Notes being listed (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have
been admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s regulated market and have been admitted to the Official List. The London
Stock Exchange’s regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of the Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament
and of the Council on markets in financial instruments (as amended, “MiFID II”).

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes
and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche (as defined under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes”) of Notes
will be set out in a final terms document (the Final Terms) which, with respect to Notes to be listed on the London Stock Exchange,
will be delivered to the UK Listing Authority and the London Stock Exchange. Copies of Final Terms in relation to Notes to be listed
on the London Stock Exchange will also be published on the website of the London Stock Exchange through a regulatory information
service.

The Issuer has been assigned a long-term debt credit rating of Baal (stable outlook) and a short-term debt credit rating of
P-2 (stable outlook) by Moody’s Investors Service Ltd (Moody’s) and a long term debt credit rating of BBB+ (negative outlook) and a
short term debt credit rating of A-2 (stable outlook) by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited (Standard & Poor’s). The Programme
has been rated Baal (long-term) and P-2 (short-term) by Moody’s and BBB+ (long-term) and A-2 (short-term) by Standard & Poor’s.
Each of Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s is established in the European Union and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009
(as amended) (the CRA Regulation). Notes issued under the Programme may be rated by either of the rating agencies referred to
above or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to the
Programme by the relevant rating agency. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject
to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Base Prospectus comprises a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of Directive
2003/71/EC as amended.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus and
the Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge
and belief of the Issuer (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information
contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to
affect the import of such information.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be
incorporated herein by reference (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference”). This Base Prospectus
shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated in and form part of this
Base Prospectus.

The Trustee and the Dealers make no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or
implied, and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Trustee or the Dealers as to the accuracy
or completeness of the information contained or incorporated in this Base Prospectus or any other
information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Programme or for any acts or omissions of
the Issuer or any other person in connection with this Base Prospectus or the issue and offering of any
Notes under the Programme. Neither the Trustee nor any Dealer accepts any liability in relation to the
information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information
provided by the Issuer in connection with the Programme.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or to make any
representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other information
supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Trustee or any of
the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme or any Notes (i) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation of the
Issuer and/or the Notes, or (ii) should be considered as arecommendation by the Issuer, the Trustee or
any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating
purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and
affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Neither this Base Prospectus nor
any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes constitutes
an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Trustee or any of the Dealers to any person to
subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall
in any circumstances imply that the information contained herein concerning the Issuer is correct at
any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the
same. The Trustee and the Dealers expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or
affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Programme or to advise any investor in the Notes of any
information coming to their attention.



IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND
OFFERS OF NOTES GENERALLY

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy
any Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in
such jurisdiction. The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be
restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. The Issuer, the Trustee and the Dealers do not represent that
this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in
compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant
to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution
or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by the Issuer, the Trustee or the Dealers which is
intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this document in any jurisdiction
where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or
indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material may be
distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance
with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any
Notes may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution
of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Notes. In particular, there are restrictions on the
distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States and the European
Economic Area (including the United Kingdom), see “Subscription and Sale” below.

The minimum denomination of the Notes shall be €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency as at the date of issue of the Notes).

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the
Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular,
each potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other
professional advisers, whether it:

(i) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(i) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on
its overall investment portfolio;

(iii) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes, including Notes where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from
the potential investor’s currency;

(iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of financial
markets; and

(v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may
affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of
certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain
authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what
extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of
borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions
should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment
of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

MiFID Il PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Final Terms in respect of any
Notes may include a legend entitled “MiFID Il Product Governance” which may outline the target market
assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate.
Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending any such Notes (a “distributor”) should
take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID Il is
responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of such Notes (by either
adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.
A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID
Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the “MiFID Product Governance



Rules”), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise
neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the
purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

Prohibition of sales to EEA Retail Investors — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail
investor in the European Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person
who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (ii) a
customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended, the Insurance Mediation Directive),
where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of
MiFID Il. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as
amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available
to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise
making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of
1933, as amended, (the Securities Act) and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain
exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account
or benefit of, U.S. persons (see “Subscription and Sale” below).

BENCHMARKS REGULATION — Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by
reference to the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) or the London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”) which are provided by the European Money Markets Institute (“EMMI”) and the ICE
Benchmark Administration Limited (“ICE”) respectively. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, ICE
appears in the European Securities and Markets Authority (“ESMA”)’s register of administrators under
Article 36 of Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the “Benchmarks Regulation”) and EMMI does not appear
in ESMA’s register of administrators under the Benchmarks Regulation. As far as the Issuer is aware,
the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the Benchmarks Regulation apply, such that EMMI and ICE
are not currently required to obtain authorisation or registration.

PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION

In this Base Prospectus, all references to:

. U.S. dollars, U.S.$ and $ refer to United States dollars;

. C$ refer to Canadian dollars;

. Sterling and £ refer to pounds sterling; and

. euro and €refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic
and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as
amended.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, one or more relevant Dealers (the Stabilising
Manager(s)) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) may over-allot Notes or effect
transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which
might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may
begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant
Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier
of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the
allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be
conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising
Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.
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The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in
its entirety by, the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the terms and conditions of
any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms. The Issuer and any relevant Dealer may
agree that Notes shall be issued in a form other than that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions,
in which event, in the case of listed Notes only, a new prospectus will be made available which will

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such Notes.

This Overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3)

of Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 implementing the Prospectus Directive.

Words and expressions defined in “Form of the Notes” and “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below

shall have the same meanings in this Overview.

Issuer:

Legal Entity Identifier
(LE):

Description:
Arranger:

Dealers:

Risk Factors:

Certain Restrictions:

Trustee:

Principal Paying
Agent:

Centrica plc

E26EDV109X6EEPBKVH76

Euro Medium Term Note Programme
NatWest Markets Plc

Barclays Bank PLC

BNP Paribas

Citigroup Global Markets Limited
HSBC Bank plc

J.P. Morgan Securities plc
Merrill Lynch International
MUFG Securities EMEA plc
NatWest Markets Plc

RBC Europe Limited

and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the Programme
Agreement.

There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations
under Notes issued under the Programme. These are set out under “Risk
Factors”. In addition, there are certain factors which are material for the purpose
of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the
Programme. These are set out under “Risk Factors” and include certain risks
relating to the structure of particular Series of Notes and certain market risks.

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which particular
laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will
only be issued in circumstances which comply with such laws, guidelines,
regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time (see
“Subscription and Sale” below) including the following restrictions applicable at
the date of this Base Prospectus.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes having a maturity of less than one year will, if the proceeds of the issue
are accepted in the United Kingdom, constitute deposits for the purposes of the
prohibition on accepting deposits contained in section 19 of FSMA unless they
are issued to a limited class of professional investors and have a denomination
of at least £100,000 or its equivalent, see “Subscription and Sale” below.

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.

HSBC Bank plc



Registrar:

Programme Size:

Distribution:

Currencies:

Maturities:

Issue Price:

Form of Notes:

Initial Delivery of
Notes:

Fixed Rate Notes:

Such person as shall be appointed as registrar by the Issuer prior to the issue
of Registered Notes or Exchangeable Bearer Notes (as defined below) of any
Series in accordance with the Agency Agreement.

Up to U.S.$10,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies calculated as
described in the Programme Agreement) outstanding at any time. The Issuer
may increase the amount of the Programme in accordance with the terms of
the Programme Agreement.

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and in each
case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, any currency agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

The Notes will have such maturities as may be agreed between the Issuer and
the relevant Dealer, subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may
be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or
equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the Issuer or the
relevant Specified Currency (as indicated in the Final Terms).

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid basis and at an issue price which is at par
or at a discount to, or premium over, par.

The Notes will be issued in bearer or registered form as described in the
applicable Final Terms. Notes may be issued in bearer form only (Bearer
Notes), in bearer form exchangeable for Registered Notes (Exchangeable
Bearer Notes) or in registered form only (Registered Notes).

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes and Exchangeable Bearer Notes will be
represented on issue by a Temporary Global Note (as defined below) if
(i) definitive Notes are to be made available to Noteholders (as defined below)
following the expiry of 40 days after their issue date or (ii) such Notes have an
initial maturity of more than one year and are being issued in compliance with
the D Rules (as defined in “Overview of the Programme — United States Selling
Restrictions” below), otherwise such Tranche will be represented by a
Permanent Global Note (as defined below). Registered Notes will be
represented either (i) in certificated form (certificated Registered Notes) or (ii)
in uncertificated form (uncertificated Registered Notes) comprising those
Registered Notes which for the time being are uncertificated units of a security
in accordance with the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (the
Uncertificated Securities Regulations). Certificated Registered Notes will be
represented by Certificates (as defined below), one Certificate being issued in
respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of certificated Registered Notes of
one Series.

On or before the issue date for each Tranche, the Global Note representing
Bearer Notes or Exchangeable Bearer Notes may be deposited with a common
depositary for, or a common safekeeper for, Euroclear (as defined below) and
Clearstream, Luxembourg (as defined below). Global Notes may also be
deposited with any other clearing system or may be delivered outside any
clearing system provided that the method of such delivery has been agreed in
advance by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Principal Paying Agent (as defined
below) and the relevant Dealer.

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be agreed between
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and, on redemption, will be calculated on the
basis of such Day Count Fraction (as defined below) as may be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.



Floating Rate Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes:

Redemption:

Denomination of
Notes:

Taxation:

Negative Pledge:

Cross Default:

Status of the Notes:

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:

@) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate
swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an
agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by
the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as
amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the
Notes of the relevant Series); or

(b) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on the agreed screen page
of a commercial quotation service; or

(c) on such other basis as may be agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each Series of Floating Rate Notes.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum
interest rate or both.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest Period (as defined
below), as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, will be
payable on such Interest Payment Dates (as defined below), and will be
calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction, as may be agreed between
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Zero Coupon Notes may be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal
amount and will not bear interest.

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the relevant Notes cannot
be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than for taxation reasons or
following an Event of Default) or that such Notes will be redeemable at the
option of the Issuer and/or the Noteholders upon giving notice to the
Noteholders or the Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified
prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such other terms
as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year are subject to restrictions on their
denomination and distribution, see “Certain Restrictions: Notes having a
maturity of less than one year” above.

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed between the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer save that the minimum denomination of each
Note will be such amount as may be allowed or required from time to time by
the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations
applicable to the relevant Specified Currency, see “Certain Restrictions: Notes
having a maturity of less than one year” above, and save that the minimum
denomination of each Note will be €100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated
in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such currency).

All payments in respect of the Notes will, save as required by law, be made
without deduction or withholding for or on account of tax imposed by any Tax
Jurisdiction, subject as provided in Condition 8. In the event that any such
deduction or withholding is made, the Issuer will, save in certain limited
circumstances provided in Condition 8, be required to pay additional amounts
to cover the amounts so deducted.

The terms of the Notes will contain a negative pledge provision as further
described in Condition 4.

The terms of the Notes will contain a cross default provision as further
described in Condition 10.

The Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and, subject to
the provisions of Condition 4, unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank



Rating:

Listing:

Governing Law:

Selling Restrictions:

United States Selling
Restrictions:

pari passu among themselves and (save for certain obligations required to be
preferred by law) equally with all other unsecured obligations (other than
subordinated obligations, if any) of the Issuer, from time to time outstanding.

The Issuer has been assigned a long-term debt credit rating of Baal (stable
outlook) and a short-term debt credit rating of P-2 (stable outlook) by Moody’s
and a long term debt credit rating of BBB+ (negative outlook) and a short term
debt credit rating of A-2 (stable outlook) by Standard & Poor’s. The Programme
has been rated Baal (long-term) and P-2 (short-term) by Moody’s and BBB+
(long-term) and A-2 (short-term) by Standard & Poor’s. Series of Notes issued
under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Series of Notes is
rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the ratings assigned to
the Programme. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold
securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time
by the assigning rating agency.

Application has been made to the UK Listing Authority for Notes issued under
the Programme to be admitted to the Official List and to the London Stock
Exchange for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock
Exchange’s regulated market.

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection
with the Notes will be governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with,
English law.

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in the United
States and the European Economic Area (including the United Kingdom) and
such other restrictions as may be required in connection with the offering and
sale of a particular Tranche of Notes, see “Subscription and Sale” below.

The Issuer is a Category 2 issuer for the purposes of Regulation S under the
Securities Act.

The Notes will be issued in compliance with U.S. Treasury Regulations
§1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that
are applicable for the purposes of Section 4701 of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the Code)) (the D Rules) unless (i) the applicable
Final Terms states that Notes are issued in compliance with U.S. Treasury
Regulations §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any successor rules in substantially the
same form that are applicable for the purposes of Section 4701 of the Code)
(the C Rules) or (ii) the Notes are issued other than in circumstances in which
the Note will not constitute registration required obligations under the United
States Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 (TEFRA), which
circumstances will be referred to in the applicable Final Terms as a transaction
to which TEFRA is not applicable.



RISK FACTORS

In purchasing Notes, investors assume the risk that the Issuer may become insolvent or otherwise be
unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. There is a wide range of factors, which individually or
together could result in the Issuer becoming unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. It is not
possible to identify all such factors or to determine which factors are most likely to occur, as the Issuer may not
be aware of all relevant factors and certain factors which it currently deems not to be material may become
material as a result of the occurrence of events outside the Issuer’s control. The Issuer has identified in this
Base Prospectus a number of factors, which could materially adversely affect its business and ability to make
payments due under the Notes. In addition, factors that are material for the purpose of assessing the market
risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are described below.

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base
Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE ISSUER’S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER NOTES
ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

The Group is exposed to movement in commodity prices

The Group’s financial performance, cash flows and price competitiveness are sensitive to the Group’s
ability to manage exposure to volatile world energy markets, including wholesale commaodity prices in various
locations for natural gas, crude oil, oil products, coal, carbon and power. In order to support its core business
activities, it is necessary for the Group to purchase significant quantities of commodities, and although it
routinely enters into long-term contracts to protect its commercial position, significant price rises and/or failure
to secure key materials and/or maintain adequate supply chains and strategic alliances could have a significant
adverse effect on its operations and/or financial position.

In the energy supply and services businesses (i.e. UK Home, UK Business, Ireland, North America
Home and North America Business) (ES&S) commodity price increases or decreases may require the Group
to change the price at which it sells energy or gas to its customers, to the extent it is able to do so once the cap
on standard variable and default energy tariffs is introduced (please see “The Group’s business is subject to
political intervention” below for further information). The Group may not be able to pass on all increases in
commodity prices to its customers, or when commodity prices fall may need to reduce prices for customers to
remain competitive, thereby potentially resulting in lower profitability. Where the Group does increase prices or
fails to pass on decreases in commodity costs to its customers, including doing so in a timely manner, customers
may seek to switch to competitors. In the case of fixed price products, changes to commodity prices may affect
the Group’s ability to offer competitive products, or for those products to be profitable. There has been significant
adverse publicity in recent years associated with United Kingdom (UK) residential energy prices, which may
increase the number of customers switching to competitors or damage public trust in the Group’s business and
its consumer brands. This may be impacted by increasing political and regulatory intervention (please see “The
Group’s business is subject to political intervention” and “The Group’s Business is subject to regulatory
oversight” for further information).

In the Exploration and Production (E&P) business, rapid material and/or sustained changes in prices
can impact the validity of the assumptions on which strategic decisions are based and, as a result, the actions
derived from those decisions may no longer be appropriate. A low oil and gas price environment would generate
less revenue from producing assets and, over the longer term, may make certain exploration and development
projects less profitable or uneconomic. Prolonged periods of low oil and gas prices, or rising costs, could also
result in projects being delayed or cancelled, and/or in the impairment of some assets. In UK electricity
generation, lower power prices may reduce profits from nuclear power generation assets. In the Distributed
Energy & Power (DE&P) business, growth in optimisation revenues and returns on direct asset investments is
linked to capacity and power ancillary services markets; a reduction in the value of flexibility markets could
impact revenues and growth rates.

In the Energy Marketing & Trading (EM&T) business, sensitivity to hydrocarbon prices arises from the
purchase of third-party supply, the direct sale of commodities into spot markets and the indexation terms in
longer-term sales contracts. Uncertain demand creates a risk that surplus commaodity positions cannot be sold
profitably in wholesale markets or that any short commodity positions cannot be covered at a cost that can be
passed on to customers. The Group’s portfolio also includes a number of flexible gas contracts that are not
directly linked to short-term changes in hydrocarbon commodity prices and the profit from which will vary

10



between periods based on the commodity price environment and the decisions the Group takes to optimise
these contracts to maximise value. The Group also has a number of contractual capacity contracts, the
economic value of which depends on certain price relationships.

For all assets, both investment decisions and the valuation of existing assets are based upon
evaluations underpinned by forecasts of longer-term commodity prices. Assets, including goodwill, may be
impaired if future cash flows from such assets are insufficient to cover their cost on the balance sheet.

Commodity prices fluctuate based on a large number of factors, most notably forecasts for supply and
demand in local and global markets as well as operational and technological, political, social and economic
factors, and actions by major oil-producing countries. Seasonal variations and, in the short-to-medium term,
economic conditions, make it difficult to forecast future energy demand. Moreover, prices for oil and gas can
move independently from each other. Political factors may also trigger an expectation of or actual disruptions
in supplies from those regions affected. In addition, there continues to be significant investment in shale gas in
Australia, China and North America potentially resulting in lower wholesale gas prices and a weakening of the
traditional links between gas and oil prices. This energy source could further influence global energy markets
over time and, in particular, the surplus of gas could affect the liquefied natural gas (LNG) sector, which is
becoming an increasingly important source of natural gas for the UK. If the Group is unable to manage its
exposure to fluctuating commodity prices, its competitive position could be negatively impacted and its
business, financial condition, credit rating, results of operations and growth rate could be adversely affected.

The rapid and material drop in both oil and gas prices during and since 2014 negatively impacted the
Group’s cash flow and profitability, and although prices have risen more recently, it is not clear that the forward
price curves for oil and gas will improve back to previous levels in the near term. The external commodity price
environment could also impact the Group’s longer-term strategy, future dividend payments, and increase the
likelihood of the Group’s projects and assets being subject to cancellation, postponement or divestment.

The Group’s business is subject to political intervention

The Group is subject to various political interventions and changes to corporate governance
requirements from governments in the UK, Republic of Ireland, North America and elsewhere. In the UK, the
energy supply market has been a high profile subject in the media and in political debate and interventions by
the government could have a significant impact on the Group’s UK Home business in particular. Government
intervention in energy markets, or changes in government policy, may also affect the Group’s ability to invest
in new assets in the markets concerned. In addition, a worsening of the international political climate increases
the possibility of sanctions or other trade limiting actions that could impact the Group’s ability to source
commodities, and there is no certainty that current projects can be progressed as initially planned. Any failure
or perceived failure by the Group to comply with such developments or related requirements could result in
substantial fines, loss or debarment of licence, legal proceedings and have a negative impact on the Group’s
brands, operations and reputation.

The UK Government’s Domestic Gas and Electricity (Tariff Cap) Act came into force on 19 July 2018
and places a requirement on the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets (Ofgem) to cap standard variable and
default energy tariffs. The cap will be in force until at least 2020. Ofgem announced its policy approach on 6
September 2018 and has begun a consultation process on its proposals which will end on 8 October, with a
decision following in early November. The Group is currently working through the detail of Ofgem’s policy
approach to establish the potential risks and impacts. The Ofgem announcement included the proposed fixed
price cap that will apply from 1 January 2019, and then be adjusted from 1 April 2019 in line with the mechanics
of the existing pre-payment meter (PPM) price cap. The cap is lower than the market average UK Standard
Variable Tariff (SVT), which the Group is proactively phasing out across its customer base.

There are other Ofgem-led initiatives, some of which were recommended by the Competition and
Markets Authority (CMA), that may impact on customer churn levels, especially customers on default tariffs.
Initiatives include a database of customers on default tariffs that can be used for marketing purposes, new
prompts for customers to switch supplier and enabling data access. Ofgem is also considering reform of the
supplier hub model to enable innovation and owing to concerns about low customer engagement in the market.
Until now Ofgem’s focus has been on the residential market in supply, but focus may shift to the non-domestic
market.

In the UK, certain political parties have made statements in respect of their intended actions in the UK
energy supply market. The Labour party and the Scottish National Party have both made reference to
introducing publicly owned energy suppliers. Any changes to UK government policy or an early general election
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may trigger new announcements, proposals or interventions in the UK energy supply market, and any such
interventions could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and overall financial
performance.

The significant media attention generated by energy being made a political “hot-topic” may also have
an impact on the operations of British Gas. Increased public discussion about energy companies can have an
impact on the perception of the Group’s brands, and any price increases receive particular public attention,
which can be disproportionate with the media coverage of other competitors. This position may have a material
adverse impact on the Group’s reputation and competitive position.

In North America, the Group considers there to be a risk of partial or total re-regulation of the residential
retail energy market in one or more states in the U.S., with controls on price/product mimicking proposals
contemplated in the ongoing New York Public Service Commission proceedings that are examining the New
York competitive residential retail market. Legislative and regulatory actions being considered include requiring
that prices charged by competitive suppliers include guaranteed savings below the utility price, restricting
specific sales practices and channels commonly used in the industry, limiting sales by competitive suppliers to
so-called “vulnerable” customers and full re-regulation (i.e., returning to the model where the utility is the sole
supplier to residential customers). The effect of these proposals may be to significantly curtail or eliminate the
Group’s residential energy supply business in these states. There is risk for political and/or regulatory
intervention in several states, including New York, Massachusetts, lllinois and Rhode Island. Timelines for any
re-regulation also cannot be predicted reliably.

In the DE&P business, key elements of the UK Government’s plans to decarbonise the electricity
sector and achieve security of supply are set out in the provisions of the Energy Act 2013 which relate to
Electricity Market Reform (EMR). UK Government priorities, however, appear to have a greater emphasis on
energy affordability. Although the Group does not have significant exposure to new renewable electricity
projects and is not materially impacted by recent UK Government proposals to restrict the availability of
subsidies to new renewable generators, uncertainty still remains with regard to how EMR will affect the market
in general and the Group’s business. In particular, the effects may include changing the generation mix in the
UK and could adversely affect the profitability of the Group’s merchant power generation assets (although that
portfolio of assets is much reduced in size and materiality to the Group following divestments in 2016 (wind)
and 2017 (wind and combined cycle gas turbines)) and/or the scale of demand for distributed energy solutions
by customers in the UK (although there are other drivers for that demand such as enhanced customer site
resilience and decarbonisation).

The Medium Sized Combustion Plant Directive (2015/2193) (MCPD) has been implemented and
seeks to place limits on the emission of sulphur dioxide, nitrogen oxides and dust from plants with a thermal
input of at least LMW and up to 50MW, with the aim of reducing emissions and the risks to human health and
to the environment. For new plants, the limits will come into effect from 20 December 2018, whilst for existing
plants the limits will apply from 1 January 2025 if they have thermal input of more than 5MW, and from 1 January
2030 if they have thermal input of up to 5SMW. The limits do not apply to gas turbines and gas and diesel
engines, when used on offshore platforms, however they will affect any retrofit or replacement plans and
accelerate decommissioning in some circumstances. The Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs
(DEFRA) is consulting on a proposal to close the regulatory gap between the current Ecodesign (EU
requirements for manufacturers of energy-related products) and MCPD to tackle emissions from plants in the
500kW to 1MW thermal input range. As legislation on medium combustion plants and generators comes into
force, they will consider the case for tighter emissions standards on this source of emissions which may affect
some of the Group’s activities.

The Group operates in competitive markets

The Group operates in highly competitive markets in Great Britain, the Republic of Ireland and North
America for the supply of energy and services to business and residential customers including new home
technology services and products. Customer behaviour and demand can change due to improved energy
efficiency, climate change, government initiatives, long-term weather patterns and the general economic
outlook. To retain or develop a competitive position, suppliers price aggressively in order to build market share
and customers may switch supplier based on price, product and service levels, as well as competitor activity.
In addition, new market entrants, consolidation of incumbent suppliers, and entry by competitors from adjacent
markets continue to change the shape and dynamic of the domestic supply market, further increasing
competition. In the UK, this has resulted in significant changes to customer numbers and has increased
pressure on the Group to retain its customer accounts in challenging market conditions. Any announcements

12



by the Group to increase prices also has a significant impact on its customer numbers due to the high profile
nature of the British Gas brand.

The Group also operates in the competitive home services market in both the UK and North America.
Competition in these markets is increasing as existing energy and other service providers, such as insurance
companies, telecom companies, security companies, supermarkets and other large retail companies have
entered the services market and seek to strengthen their positions and diversify their product offerings. In North
America Business, energy efficient measures have lowered power usage per customer across the industry,
reducing total customer accounts and putting pressure on sold unit margins, particularly in power. The Group’s
services businesses have been some of the most impacted by the economic environment, with customers
choosing to decrease their cover or exit the cover market altogether in favour of on-demand or do-it-yourself
options or delaying purchases or upgrades. Failure to sustain competitive cost and service levels, or to
sufficiently differentiate the Group’s ES&S products and services, could affect market share and challenge the
Group’s ability to deliver sustainable operating margins and attain its growth aspirations.

In the E&P business, the Group faces competition from both international and state-run energy
companies for obtaining exploration and development rights, particularly outside the UK, and in developing and
applying new technology to maximise hydrocarbon recovery. If the Group fails to obtain new exploration and
development acreage in the North Sea or East Irish Sea, or to apply and develop new technology, its future
results of operations and cash flows may be adversely affected. Current industry trends towards the
consolidation of existing operators and the strategic divestment by larger operators around the UK, UK
Continental Shelf and Norwegian Continental Shelf markets in which the Group operate may lead to stronger
competition from operators with greater financial resources.

In 2016, the Group created a new business unit to focus on delivery of distributed energy products
and services (DE&P). The global DE&P market is now material and continuing to grow at a good rate; however
competition is high, with several new entrants positioning themselves in advance of an expected upturn in
growth. Due to the uncertainty this causes, the Issuer faces risks of failing to deliver its strategy in this market.

The Group also faces significant competition in respect of its Connected Home business, including its
Hive brand which operates in a highly competitive market with a range of competitors, including technology
companies. There is no certainty that products produced under the Hive brand will be successful on a customer
uptake or feedback level compared to those produced by competitors and the Issuer faces a risk of falling
behind the speed of its competitors’ technological development.

There can be no certainty that the Group will retain or develop a competitive position within the markets
in which it operates, which if not achieved, could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of
operations and overall financial condition.

The Group’s business is subject to regulatory oversight

The Group is subject to various regulatory interventions from regulatory bodies in the UK, Republic of
Ireland, North America and elsewhere. Objectives of these interventions vary, but include changing
environmental regulations and disclosure requirements, governance of industry operations, security of energy
supplies, privacy and data protection controls, amendment to existing tax and disclosure regimes and protection
of consumers and business customers.

The ongoing level of focus on energy companies in the UK serves to heighten further the level of
scrutiny from regulatory bodies, and other key stakeholders, including the UK Government and consumer
groups, adding to the level of public attention already directed towards compliance matters. The most recent
regulatory intervention being the Ofgem cap on standard variable and default energy tariffs (see “The Group’s
business is subject to political intervention” above for more information).

The Group is subject to oversight from a wide range of regulatory bodies including Ofgem, the CMA,
the Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators (ACER), the Oil and Gas Authority, the Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA) and the Prudential Regulatory Authority (PRA) in the UK; the Commission for Energy
Regulation in the Republic of Ireland; the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) in the United States;
and a number of regulators at federal, state, and provincial level in the United States and Canada. Regulatory
bodies can impose rules on how the Group markets, sells and fulfils its products and services to its customers
and have the power to amend or remove licences, conduct investigations into companies’ operations, issue
financial penalties and enforcement notices (including to stop the Group from selling, and require it to increase
capital holdings) and, in North America, take direct oversight of operations. In certain cases, regulators have
the power to impose substantial fines that could have a material adverse impact on the Group’s profitability. In
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the case of an Ofgem licence breach in the UK for example, this could be up to 10 per cent. of Group revenue
and in the case of a breach of EU Regulation (No. 1227/2011) on wholesale energy market integrity and
transparency (REMIT), or breach of FCA or PRA licence, the fine could be unlimited. While fines imposed to
date by regulators on the Group and close competitors have not come close to these levels, future fines may
be more significant. Any intervention or remedies could materially adversely impact the Group’s business,
operations and overall financial condition.

In the Group’s E&P, ES&S and EM&T businesses, in the UK, the Republic of Ireland, North America
and mainland Europe are closely regulated and significant changes to the legal and regulatory framework of
these markets could have an impact on the Group’s ability to achieve its operational or financial goals.

The UK E&P, UK Home and UK Business businesses have also seen regulators impose significant
obligations to implement carbon reduction measures. The Energy Companies Obligation (ECO) came into effect
from January 2013. The current obligation period, known as ECO2t, launched on 1 April 2017 and runs until 30
September 2018, extending the original lifetime of the scheme by 18 months. ECO3, the successor to this
scheme, will commence in autumn 2018 once the regulations have passed through the Parliamentary process.
This means a hiatus in regulations not seen since such obligations were introduced in the 1990s. The final
impact assessment has not yet been published. There is a risk that the assumptions underlying the Group’s
estimates may change or may prove to be incorrect. In addition, as ECO3 is now a 100 per cent. fuel poverty
scheme, with a number of restrictions which may impact on deliverability and cost-effectiveness, there may be
an unforeseen increase in the cost of delivery. There is always an outside risk that the Group may not fulfil its
ECO obligations, which could also harm the Group’s reputation and have an adverse effect on its results of
operations and financial condition.

UK Home and UK Business is also affected by changes to the retail supply and wholesale industry
processes, which could have an impact on the Group’s operating costs. Ofgem is currently reviewing all aspects
of paying for use of, and access to, electricity networks. Any reforms could have a significant impact on
electricity network costs from 2020. It is unclear what reforms Ofgem will progress at this stage, but any changes
will directly impact operating costs and also projects whose benefits include avoiding network costs. A number
of gas European network codes were implemented in the UK last few years (via changes to the Uniform Network
Code). The Group awaits full implementation of the European Tariff network code for gas, the solution for which
is expected to be known by the first quarter of 2019, after Ofgem decides which is the most appropriate from a
range of the alternatives raised by stakeholders. This is expected to lead to significant changes to gas
transmission charging methodology in the UK from October 2019. Changes will likely affect capacity
procurement strategies, origination deals involving the national transmission system short-haul and other
elements of the charging regime. There is a possibility that regulated charges that the Group pays for use of
the gas transmission network will increase and may impact the Group’s margins, to the extent that any such
increases cannot be passed on to its customers. An internal impact assessment based on likely scenarios will
be finalised towards the end of 2018.

Future UK Capacity Market auction clearing prices could adversely affect the future profitability of the
Group’s small number of remaining generation assets, although it is not envisaged this would be material from
a Group perspective.

In North America, regulatory approaches vary by jurisdiction and regulator, with the Group’s entry into
new markets being assessed on a case-by-case basis. Although the Group operates primarily in price-
deregulated markets in North America, it is subject to certain regulations and oversight by state or provincial
regulatory agencies in its principal residential energy markets, primarily Texas, the U.S. North East, and the
Canadian province of Alberta, as well as by federal regulators in the wholesale commodity and derivative
markets.

Regulatory developments affecting the energy markets within which the Group operates are uncertain
and may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
As an example, Ofgem is considering a range of measures that may fundamentally alter the operation of the
supply market (including policies designed to encourage disintermediation, and trialling forms of collective
switches). The costs and risks of compliance with any new or revised regulations, or new or changed
interpretations or enforcement of existing regulations, may have a material impact on the Group’s business and
financial position. These include the electricity balance reforms which were implemented from November 2015
and the substantial transaction reporting obligations under REMIT, of which phase 2 was implemented in April
2016.
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The Group may be materially affected by the UK decision to leave the EU

The forthcoming exit of the UK from the EU (Brexit) and prolonged periods of uncertainty relating to
the UK’s withdrawal, could result in significant macroeconomic deterioration, including, but not limited to, further
decreases in global stock exchange indices, increased foreign exchange volatility (in particular a further
weakening of the pound sterling against other leading currencies, with potential consequences for UK inflation),
UK interest rates which remain ‘lower for longer’, decreased GDP in the UK or other markets in which the Group
operates, energy and commodity market volatility and a downgrade of the UK’s sovereign credit rating. In
addition, there are concerns that these events might push the UK, Eurozone and/or United States into an
economic recession, any of which, were they to occur, would further destabilise the global financial markets
and could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and overall financial
condition. However, the UK energy sector is less exposed to Brexit risks relative to some other sectors (such
as export-led industries) and the Group, as an energy business is proportionately less exposed than a number
of its competitors which have either EU parent companies or are heavily focussed on the manufacture of
generating assets from EU markets.

The UK’s post-Brexit relationship with the EU has yet to be finally defined and there are a number of
risks which the Group’s businesses may face as a result, e.g. tariffs on European cross-border trade in plant
and equipment and/or possible restrictions on the cross-border movement of skilled labour required to support
the Group’s business activities. The withdrawal of the UK from the EU is also likely to affect the Group in a
number of other ways. EU-derived law applies or has been implemented in the UK across a wide range of
areas, including energy market rules, the EU emissions trading system (ETS) patrticipation and carbon pricing,
data protection, intellectual property, consumer rights and tax and it is unclear when, how and to what extent
UK law in these areas will in the medium to longer term future diverge from European rules and regulation,
although we can now take some comfort from the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, which will enable
the transportation of existing EU law into UK law. As a significant proportion of the regulatory regime applicable
to the Group is derived from EU directives and regulations, the UK’s exit from the EU could lead to future
changes in the regulatory framework applicable to the Group’s operations. In particular, the energy industry in
the UK is subject to substantial domestic and EU regulation, placing significant statutory obligations on the
Group with regard to, amongst other factors, upstream activities, energy supply, imports and exports, the
wholesale market and energy efficiency. For example, if UK trading standards or rules diverge from those of
the EU in respect of the wholesale market (i.e. REMIT, Network Codes), as a result of future changes either in
EU law which are not mirrored by the UK or vice versa, it could lead to additional obligations and restrictions
being imposed on the Group, which may adversely impact its operations and increase operating costs and/or
capital expenditure. The financial services market, which the Group’s activities encompass, could also be
similarly impacted.

In addition to the above, if there is a ho deal’ Brexit and the integrated wholesale electricity market for
the Republic of Ireland and Northern Ireland (the Single Electricity Market) arrangements are terminated, the
Group faces risks relating to its operation in Ireland (via Board Gais Energy) and future investments. These
specific primary risks are as follows: (i) Irish access to EU energy markets runs through the UK via gas and
electricity interconnectors which connect the UK with Ireland; (ii) the operation of an all-island Single Electricity
Market would become difficult if the UK regulatory framework diverges materially from that of the EU; and (iii) if
Northern Irish power generators fall outside the EU emission trading scheme then the Single Electricity Market
could not function on a level playing field.

The Group may fail to deliver its stated strategic objectives

Delivery of the Group’s strategy, including sustainable growth in a number of business areas,
implementing substantial cost efficiencies and making certain disposals is fundamental to the Group’s future
success and requires significant organisational, cultural and technical transformation. There can be no
assurance that the Group will be able to successfully execute some or all of the strategic objectives, achieve
the planned cost efficiencies outlined in the review, or achieve its stated financial targets.

In certain areas, most notably in DE&P and Connected Home, the Group will be required to achieve
growth in relatively new business areas in order to be successful in its strategic objectives. This may include
entering new markets or developing commercial offerings that have not generated significant profits or cash
flow in the past. These new businesses are also intended to be structured as global units and operate
consistently and efficiently across a number of geographies and jurisdictions. This form of global business unit
is new to the Group and there can be no assurance that the Group will be able to develop this model successfully
or grow in these business areas, or generate sufficient cash or commercial propositions and products.
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In order to achieve targeted cost efficiencies, improve customer service and transfer resource to
developing businesses, significant changes are required to the Group’s operating model and organisational
structure. Such structural change can be difficult to achieve, and creates risk as the business enters a period
of significant transition. These changes may affect employee engagement, industrial relations, and make it
difficult to attract and retain employees with the right capabilities in key roles across the business.

Where the Group deploys new capital in making acquisitions, there is a risk that the Group will not
effectively integrate purchased assets or businesses to achieve expected synergies, continue to improve
customer service and engage in new markets.

Management has publicly communicated the importance of its strategic priorities, and aligned the
future success of the Group to delivery of these goals. The Group’s targeted growth is based on assumptions
of flat real oil and gas prices, as well as normal weather patterns and impact on demand. There can be no
guarantee that the assumptions or longer-term forecasts on prices, weather patterns, or demand used to
calculate growth targets will prove to be accurate. Failure to deliver on the Group’s strategy or plans and to
identify changes in the market environment and react appropriately, disruption to the business caused by these
changes, or any significant variation in one or more of our underlying forecasts not under the Group’s direct
control, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and overall financial
condition.

Damage to corporate reputation or brand perception could affect the Group’s competitive position

The Group and its businesses are leading energy brands, and its brand and reputation are important
assets. The Group must actively manage its reputation, and that of senior management and the executive, with
a number of different stakeholders including customers, investors, opinion-formers, consumer and community
representatives, employees, the media, governments and government agencies, other political parties and
regulatory and trade union bodies. Any failure to follow the Group’s global business principles of operating
professionally, fairly and with integrity, or the public perception that there has been such a failure or other real
or perceived failures of governance, or legal or regulatory compliance could further undermine public trust in
the Group, one or more of its businesses or its management, lead to increased regulatory intervention, harm
the Group’s reputation, damage one or more of its consumer brands and adversely affect its business, results
of operations and overall financial condition.

The challenges of day-to-day costs of living, including energy, increased political pressures and other
economic challenges have all increased the level of media coverage, and had a negative impact on the public’s
perception of the energy industry and many of the companies that operate in this industry. The increased use
of social media also allows customers and consumer groups to engage, share views, and take part in direct
action and other campaigns more readily than before. Any failure to retain the trust of the Group’s customers
and/or shareholders could lead to campaigns for corporate change through increased shareholder resolutions,
and/or challenges in attracting and retaining new customers. In addition, British Gas, as the UK’s leading
residential energy and services provider, due to the scale of its operations in the UK, and Bord Gais Energy as
one of the leading energy providers in the Republic of Ireland, may be subject to heightened scrutiny by the
media, in particular regarding compliance with its regulatory obligations and its retail energy pricing policies.
The recent higher wholesale energy price environment and other input costs and the timing of subsequent
increases in UK Home energy bills further heightened media attention on the Group. The increased level of
media coverage may also result in additional or heightened government and regulatory scrutiny, one example
in the UK being the price cap on standard variable and default energy tariffs which could have unpredictable
consequences for the Group’s reputation with key stakeholder groups and risks a shifting of blame between
those different stakeholders, especially in the event of a rise in wholesale costs. In North America, the Group
operates under numerous brands, each of which faces the risk of heightened media scrutiny and/or adverse
media coverage, which could have a negative impact on the reputation of one or more of the individual brands
and, ultimately, the Group.

In June 2013, the Group acquired a 25 per cent. interest in a shale exploration licence with Cuadrilla
Resources Ltd and AJ Lucas. This interest is now owned by Spirit Energy, the Group’s E&P joint venture with
BayernGas Norge AS, which was established in December 2017 and is 69 per cent. owned by the Group. As
part of its overall business strategy, Spirit Energy intends to continue to explore opportunities for unconventional
energy supply and any investment in unconventional energy or related technologies may expose it to adverse
publicity and reputational risk. The hydraulic fracturing, or ‘fracking’, activity of Cuadrilla Resources could attract
significant adverse publicity from campaign groups, which may affect the overall brand and reputation of Spirit
Energy, and potentially in turn, the Group. The effectiveness of campaign group activity can be illustrated by
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Lancashire county council’s rejection in June 2015 of the planning applications by Cuadrilla Resources to permit
drilling at two sites in Lancashire and related applications to monitor seismic activity. Cuadrilla Resources
successfully appealed against this decision in October 2016, but subsequent challenges and appeals have led
to further delays and costs to the project. In July 2018, the UK Government granted Cuadrilla Resources a
hydraulic fracturing permit for its Preston New Road site but given the public interest in fracking, there can be
no guarantees that the necessary planning applications to proceed with these explorations and developments
will be successful on an ongoing basis.

The loss of rights to use trademarks and logos could affect the Group’s competitive position

As part of the demerger in 1997 (see “Description of the Centrica Group — Background and
Formation”), BG Group plc (BG Group), (which is a separately listed company and not a part or affiliate of the
Group) assigned ownership of the British Gas trademarks and related logos for use in Great Britain to the
Group. At the same time the rights to the British Gas trademarks and related logos for use outside the UK were
assigned to BG Group. The Group successfully called for a reassignment of this intellectual property upon the
change of control of BG Group, which occurred upon the completion of the cash and share offer by Royal Dutch
Shell plc of the entire issued and to be issued share capital of BG Group in February 2016. If, for any reason,
the Group is unable to continue to use the British Gas trademarks and logos, this could adversely affect its
competitive position. In addition to the British Gas trademarks and logos, the Group trades under various other
well-known brands, such as Dyno in the UK, Direct Energy in North America and Bord Gais Energy in the
Republic of Ireland. The Connected Home “Hive” brand is also now in use across the UK, North America,
Ireland and parts of Italy and France. Any damage to corporate reputation or brand perception could have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, business, results of operations and overall financial condition.

The Group is exposed to the risk of interruptions to information systems or failure to protect
confidential information

Since 25 May 2018, the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) is now in force to protect EU
citizens from privacy and data breaches. The key principles of data privacy are similar to the previous directive,
but key changes include: the increased territorial scope (extra-territorial applicability), as it applies to all
companies regardless of their location; penalties, which are now up to 4 per cent. of annual global turnover or
€20 million (whichever is greater); and the strengthening of the conditions for consent. The GDPR, along with
the Data Protection Act 2018, now gives the Information Commissioner’s Office greater powers to fine and
penalise organisations that are not compliant with regulations or involved in privacy violations/data breaches.
The Group is required to comply with the applicable data protection laws and regulations and risks serious
penalties if it fails to do so.

The Group’s operations, including the efficient management and accurate billing of the Group’s
customers, effective upstream operations, and successful energy trading and hedging activities rely on sensitive
and highly complex information systems and networks, including systems and networks provided by and
interconnected with those of third-party providers. It is critical for the Group to maintain a high degree of focus
on the effectiveness, availability, integrity and security of information systems.

The Group’s businesses, joint ventures, and associates could be compromised by an incident arising
from the accidental or deliberate exposure of sensitive or personal data, intellectual property, inadvertent or
deliberate changes to data, and changes in asset control systems, or a breakdown of critical information
infrastructure and networks. Parties wishing to disrupt or reduce output from the energy infrastructure and
networks in which the Group operates may view the Group’s information systems as an attractive target for
cyber-attack.

Due to the continual advancement of technology, computing capabilities and other developments
including increasing digitisation of information and global reach, the use of social media and the continually
evolving external cyber threat landscape, the Group may be subject to malicious and unauthorised attempts to
penetrate the network security and misappropriate confidential information or materially compromise the
security of our assets, employees and the public. The Group is also vulnerable to the potential viral effect of
employees, consumers or ‘hacktivist’ groups using social media channels that could expose the Group to legal
liabilities, damage the Group’s reputation or lead to the disclosure of confidential information. In particular,
following the public deterioration in the relationship between Russia and the UK, the cyber threat from other
nation state hackers remains very high.

Threats to information security are not limited by geography as the Group’s digital infrastructure is
accessible globally, and parties who are able to circumvent information security barriers are capable and willing
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to perform attacks that destroy, disrupt or otherwise compromise information systems. There can be no
guarantee that the Group’s security measures will be sufficient to prevent all possible breaches.

Attempts to collect, secure, and dispose of information appropriately now face far greater scrutiny from
regulators, customers and employees. The Group must comply with laws and regulations, in the various
jurisdictions in which it operates, on the secure storage, use and disposal of customer data, and provide for
secure transmission of confidential information to ensure the security of financial and personal data passing
over public networks. EU, U.S. and Canadian data privacy and cybersecurity requirements and proposals to
amend such requirements, together with any regulatory changes, could increase the requirements around
public notification of incidents and also the ability of the regulator to impose associated fines or penalties for
non-compliance. The loss, corruption or improper disclosure of personal or confidential information as a result
of an information security breach could reduce the value of the Group’s proprietary information and lead to
significant notification and mitigation expenses, as well as reputational damage and legal or regulatory action.

There can be no certainty that response, recovery and contingency plans will be sufficient and effective
in all possible scenarios. In addition, the Group relies on third party hardware, software and service providers,
which are not fully under the Group’s control. Failure to protect critical and sensitive systems and information
adequately may result in compromises to intellectual property and trade secrets, unauthorised disclosure of
personal, confidential, share-price sensitive and proprietary data, loss of commercial or strategic advantage,
damage to the Group’s reputation and business, operational disruption, harm to the public or to employees,
litigation or regulatory sanction and fines and increased regulatory scrutiny, which could all materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations and overall financial condition.

Information security breaches could also cause system outages or reduced output that could cause
significant financial and operational loss, for example by preventing the Group from serving customers,
communicating with third parties, maintaining facilities, generating and purchasing energy, collecting and
tracking revenues, or processing and reporting information. Such an incident could also compromise the
security of critical national infrastructure assets and have a material effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations and overall financial condition.

The Group depends on the performance of third parties for certain contracts and activities, which have
been outsourced

The Group has entered into a number of outsourcing contracts, some of which are for offshore
operations, in respect of certain support functions for its businesses in the UK and North America, including
business-critical information technology services, financial accounting matters, customer services and meter
asset providers, and customer billing transactions. In addition, third party infrastructure will continue to be relied
upon by a number of the Group’s assets. Upstream production, including certain upstream projects, are
increasingly being operated or developed by third parties, as well as some of the Group’s physical trading
agreements, which rely on third party ship and terminal owners and third-party transportation (including by way
of illustration to supply, transport and regasify). As with any contractual relationship, there are inherent risks to
be considered and mitigated. There can be no guarantee that suppliers will be able to provide the functions and
services for which they have been contracted or will comply with all applicable laws and regulations. Any failure
by suppliers to deliver the contracted goods or services, and to adhere to the relevant laws and regulations, the
Group’s Corporate Responsibility and other policies, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
reputation, business, results of operations and overall financial condition.

The Group’s business may be affected by changes in weather conditions

Gas sales volumes and electricity sales volumes are affected by temperature and other environmental
factors, which are beyond the Group’s control and which may have an adverse impact on the Group’s business,
results of operations and overall financial condition.

The demand for power, gas and services is seasonal and weather dependent. In the UK, higher
demand is typically experienced during the cold weather months of October to March and lower demand during
the warm weather months of April to September. In the U.S., hot weather, particularly in Texas and the U.S.
North East, results in an increased demand for electricity to operate air conditioning units and cold weather,
particularly in the U.S. North East, results in increased demand for gas and ancillary charges for running
additional power plants to satisfy demand. The Group’s profitability is partly dependent upon its ability to
manage its exposure to unseasonably warm or cold weather and to stabilise the impact of such fluctuations
through adjustments to its tariffs. The Group’s revenues and results of operations could be negatively affected
if the Group is unable to adjust for fluctuations in pricing and demand due to volatility in weather patterns.
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Initiatives to address climate change may affect the Group’s operations

The continuing heightening of attention to climate change, including activities by non-governmental
and political organisations as well as greater interest by the broader public, is likely to lead to additional
regulations designed to tackle climate change. Policies and initiatives at national and international levels to
address climate change may affect business conditions and demand for various types of energy in the medium
to long term. U.S. climate change policy is also in a state of flux, bringing uncertainty to the Group’s North
American businesses. Customer response to climate change also presents risks to the Group, including risk to
sales volumes due to growing customer demand for low-carbon products and services.

Policy approaches that promote the usage of alternative ‘green’ energy sources may have an adverse
impact on the Group’s ability to maintain its position in key markets. In addition, new regulatory regimes may
adversely affect the Group’s operations if the Group is unable to find economically viable, as well as publicly
acceptable, solutions that reduce its CO2 emissions for new and existing projects or products.

Measures to tackle loss of biodiversity and policies intended to protect local habitats may also limit
access to gas and oil resources in areas deemed to be biologically sensitive, which in turn could affect the
Group’s upstream production. Failure to adhere to the terms of any such policies or regulations on climate
change, or indeed damage to the environment caused by the Group’s business activities, could result in added
reputational risk, legal proceedings or other measures being taken against the Group.

The Group is affected by global economic conditions

The Group continues to pursue a range of investment options across the energy chain and in different
geographies both to deepen the Group’s customer relationships and to secure the Group’s future energy
requirements.

The Group’s operating and financial performance is influenced by the economic conditions of the
countries and markets in which it operates and the Group’s access to debt markets to raise capital through
instruments such as bonds and commercial paper. Pressure from economic deterioration, deflation, volatile
wholesale prices, increased levels of competition, political instability, reduced demand and recessionary
impacts can all contribute to challenging market conditions. Recent global economic conditions have meant
that disposable income has decreased or remained flat and consumer confidence has declined, which could
result in discretionary spend being reduced and lead to increased turnover in services, lead to customers
delaying or forgoing the purchase of equipment and services, or customers not paying their bills. Strategic
issues, including capital investment in mergers, acquisitions, disposals, market position, climate change,
sustainable development, and new technologies, are also affected by global economic conditions and the
Group’s ability to grow its business successfully in these respects may be subject to circumstances beyond its
control.

The Group’s business relies on the security of energy supply

As UK gas reserves have declined, the UK energy market has become increasingly reliant on supplies
from Norway and other parts of mainland Europe, together with LNG supplies from other parts of the world. As
the UK secures an increasing proportion of gas from abroad, its price and availability will be increasingly shaped
by international forces, combined with the additional challenge of transitioning to lower carbon generation. Key
elements of security of supply are access to these reserves and the reliability of the storage, pipeline, gas
processing and power infrastructure operated by the Group and third parties both in the UK and abroad. Any
break in this supply chain, for example as a result of unplanned outages at the Group’s facilities, could
jeopardise supply to customers and impact the Group’s earnings. The Group’s entire business is exposed to
the risk of facilities being damaged by natural disasters, including but not limited to severe weather conditions.
The Group currently owns or has a stake in a variety of gas and power assets in the UK and overseas and its
results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if there were to be long-
term outages associated with one or more of those assets.

The Group depends on third party supply and cannot guarantee the security of the supply chains.
There is a risk of terrorist activity, including acts and threats to the energy sector, which may include sabotage
or cyber-attack of power stations or pipelines. An act of terrorism in a geographical location in which the Group
has an interest could also have a commercial impact on the Group’s existing agreements in the affected region.
Such events could affect security of supply or cause a break in supply of energy to customers. Any failure to
supply energy to customers could have a material adverse impact on the Group’s reputation, business, results
of operations and overall financial condition.
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The Group’s business activities and sales may be affected by changing customer behaviour and the
efficiency and emergence of new technologies

With increasing pressure from economic, political and social developments, including rising income
inequality, national sentiment and recognition of the economic and environmental impact of global climate
change, the Group’s future operations will potentially be shaped by changes in customer demands and
expectations as well as regulatory requirements necessitating a move towards a lowest possible cost
environment and low-carbon economy. This may present significant additional risks and may lead to operating
cost challenges, reduced energy demand, increased capital requirements, and operational constraints for
certain of the Group’s activities and assets. In addition, the ineffective or incomplete implementation of new
legislation may have adverse consequences on the viability of investment in new technologies and the
development of new assets.

Improved energy efficiency, new boiler installations, and changing customer behaviour as a result of
greater environmental awareness, reaction to past retail energy bill movements, long-term weather patterns
and the general economic environment have led to a reduction in energy demand. The UK Government sees
both residential and business energy efficiency as a key part of meeting its carbon reduction targets and
continues to focus on and emphasise energy efficiency and low-carbon solutions. The Group may be subject
to additional obligations, which may lead to higher operating costs, increased capital investment, and
operational constraints for certain of the Group’s activities and assets.

Technology and innovation are essential to the Group to meet energy demands in a competitive way.
If the Group does not develop the right technology, does not have access to it or does not deploy it effectively,
the delivery of its strategy and its licence to operate may be adversely affected. The Group operates in
environments where the most advanced technologies are needed. While these technologies are regarded as
safe for the environment with today’s knowledge, there is always the possibility of unknown or unforeseeable
environmental impacts that could harm the Group’s reputation, licence to operate or expose the Group to
litigation.

As digital media, the internet and mobile devices play a greater role in the retail energy and services
sectors, the Group will continue to face heightened competitive pressures resulting from falling barriers to
market entry and swiftly changing customer loyalties. The value of customer data has increased, and the
widening range of virtual interaction with customers through digital media, the internet, mobile devices and the
emergence of new technologies, such as smart metering and smart grids, plays a greater role in the retail
energy sector and could affect gas and electricity demand and therefore the Group’s earnings through energy
related services such as energy efficiency, micro generation and energy management/automation. New
technology allows non-energy web-based firms to access customer energy consumption data, with or without
the agreement of energy suppliers. This new data may not simply be used for billing, but also to provide
customers with improved reporting, advice, new products and new services. The Group cannot be certain that
its future operations and strategy will successfully mitigate against the risks presented, or enable the Group to
remain competitive, offer innovative products and services or otherwise to take advantage of opportunities that
may present themselves.

The Group is also currently subject to certain UK Government-enforced obligations to promote greater
energy efficiency and clean energy by its customers, including smart meter installation. The long-term demand
for gas will be significantly affected by government decisions about market structures, climate change initiatives
and industry decisions around generation mix. To offset the reduced sales of gas and electricity to residential
customers, the Group needs to grow its energy market share in certain markets, together with demand for its
services, products and energy efficiency measures (including microgeneration, distributed energy, insulation
and smart enabled applications). The success of these (and other) initiatives could have a significant impact on
the Group’s revenues and profits over the decade, but no assurance can be given as to their success,
widespread adoption or support from the UK Government. Failure by the Group to adapt to further regulation,
changing customer demands and behaviour as a result of global climate change and increased awareness of
the environmental impact of energy use, may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s reputation,
business, results of operations and overall financial condition.

The Group may not sufficiently fund investment in or develop operational assets

Continual investment is required to maintain and improve the condition of, and to address operational
issues that arise in relation to, the Group’s E&P assets. Such investment therefore affects the operational life
and the output achievable from these assets. The Group reviews the value of its assets periodically to inform
valuation and investment decisions and, in some cases, may write down the value of certain assets.
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Upstream capital projects are exposed to the risk of potential build quality issues, as well as cost and
timetable overruns, unsuccessful development and management of partnerships, and health, safety,
environment and security (HSES) failures.

Timing delays, cost overruns, changes in the regulatory environment, changes in commaodity prices
and other factors could reduce a project’s net present value and damage relationships with partners, investors,
and regulators, or otherwise render a project uneconomic. Assets may not perform as expected, including as a
result of shutdowns or an inability to realise expected production volumes. In addition, the Group may decide
not to continue with certain investments or developments if the Group believes the anticipated risks are too
severe or the anticipated returns are or become insufficient to justify the investment.

The level of investment is dependent on sufficient cash resources and business cases being available
for this purpose, and those resources being directed to the most appropriate use. A lack of investment, or failure
to direct investment as required, may reduce the output from, and resale value of, assets. If the output or resale
value reduced, this could adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations and overall financial
condition.

The Group uses derivatives and hedging arrangements in the conduct of its business, which exposes
it to further regulatory and financial risk

The Group has entered into and may continue to enter into hedging transactions, including
transactions to manage its exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity
prices by way of futures contracts, financial and physical, forward-based contracts and swap contracts. Hedging
transactions can result in substantial losses, which can occur under various circumstances. The standalone
value of these hedges can change significantly, potentially increasing the volatility of cash required for margin
calls and the accounting profit recognised within a particular period. In addition, losses may arise in any
circumstances in which a counterparty does not perform its obligations under the applicable hedging
arrangement, the arrangement is imperfect or the Group’s internal hedging policies and procedures are not
followed or do not work as planned. As a result of these factors, the Group’s hedging activities may not be as
effective as intended in reducing, and may in certain circumstances increase, the volatility of its cash flows and
earnings. Any such losses or increases in volatility could materially and adversely affect the Group’s liquidity
and financial position.

The Group uses a number of derivative arrangements and other financial instruments in the ordinary
course of its business as part of its risk management programme. As a result, the Group is subject to additional
regulatory regimes. Regulation of derivatives and other similar financial instruments in the U.S. and the EU has
changed significantly over the past few years, and is currently undergoing similar changes in Canada. Some
regulations have been or are in the process of implementation but others are being revised and/or require the
publication of subordinate legislation and it is uncertain when or how these will be fully implemented and
therefore what the consequences for the Group will be.

In the U.S., regulations are being implemented by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission
pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. In Europe, implementation is
through the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR). Certain subordinate legislation and/or
regulatory processes have not been finalised, including in key areas such as the mandatory clearing obligation
and the mandatory collateral requirements that apply to non-cleared Over-The-Counter (OTC) products and
restrictions on the size of positions that can be held in certain financial instruments. An additional complexity in
assessing the impact of EMIR on the Group is that the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive |l took effect
from January 2018. This expanded each of the trading instrument definitions, as well as restricting the
exemption criteria for firms to remain designated as “non-financial”’, which has increased the impact of clearing
obligations on the Group and other entities with whom the Group interacts.

Both U.S. and European regulations require certain market participants, carrying out certain types of
transactions, to clear certain financial derivatives through central clearing parties. Derivatives, which are not so
cleared, may become covered by rules obliging the exchange of margin between OTC counterparties and
imposing a number of other operational and risk management requirements. The full and final effect of all of
these regulations on the Group is uncertain as is the impact of voluntary changes that may be introduced by
other market participants. The Group could be subject to increased cash margin and collateral requirements,
restrictions as to which platforms or counterparties can be used for certain types of trades, increased transaction
costs, vulnerability from the insolvency of Central Counterparty Clearing Houses, and the risk of reduced
liquidity in some of its important markets. Any of these outcomes could adversely affect the Group’s ability to
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manage risk and the cost of its risk management programme, and therefore may have a material adverse effect
on its business, results of operations and overall financial condition.

The Group is subject to a number of Health, Safety, Environment and Security (HSES) risks and
regulations

The Group manages significant HSES hazards given the geographic range, environmental sensitivity,
operational diversity and technical complexity of the Group’s daily operations. The Group’s operations include
onshore and offshore oil and gas production, exploration, transportation and shipping, gas supply and power
generation assets (gas and nuclear generation) and the provision of downstream energy supply and services
to retail and business customers. These assets and services are run by the Group, as operated and non-
operated joint ventures, and through franchises.

The principal areas of HSES risk associated with the Group’s operations include asset integrity, major
process safety and other incidents that could result in fatality or injury to employees, contractors and members
of the public, loss of containment, significant environmental damage, compliance breach, personal health and
safety lapses, crime and sabotage, internal security related attack, activism, cyber-attack and failure of climate-
change adaptation.

Certain events, including those arising due to third-party actions, such as the rapid and deadly spread
of infectious disease, extreme weather events and natural catastrophes, social unrest and acts of terrorism or
war, are not within the Group’s direct control; however, these may cause significant disruption or interruption to
the Group’s operations impacting customer energy supplies and result in significant costs managing and
reinstating normal customer services.

The use of third parties in the Group’s E&P businesses may increase risks that could lead to HSES
issues and decisions that adversely affect upstream production. Responsibility for the safe operation of non-
operated joint ventures remains with the operator; however, this may result in not implementing or applying
relevant HSES standards that the Group might expect in its own assets.

Both onshore and offshore operations and transportation are subject to interruptions, restrictions or
termination by government authorities based on safety, environmental or other considerations.

The management of the Group’s operational assets is subject to various environmental, health and
safety, economic and competition laws and regulations governing, among other things: the development and
operation of high hazard facilities and associated process safety requirements; the generation, storage,
handling, release, use, disposal, and transportation of hazardous substances; decommissioning and
decontamination of its facilities; the health and safety of the public and its employees; the generation of
electricity; and trading activities. Complying with these regulations or changes to these regulations could
significantly impact the cost of managing the Group’s operational assets and may make it uneconomic to
continue managing certain of its operational assets.

Permits, consents and technical certifications are required from appropriate government departments
and regulatory authorities in order for the Group to operate assets. Permit and consent conditions and
certifications are regularly reviewed to ensure continued compliance. The Group actively engages with
government departments and regulatory bodies in the development and amendment of regulatory requirements
either directly or through professional advisors and industry bodies. The Group could be asked to adjust its
future production plan, impacting assumptions on future production, income and costs. Failure to obtain or
maintain these certifications, or meet required conditions or standards, may impact the Group’s ability to operate
effectively, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Significant HSES events, precautionary closures, suspension of activities, or breach of applicable
HSES regulations could result in injury or loss of life, damage to the environment, damage to or the destruction
of wells and operational assets, pipelines and other property. This could result in regulatory action including a
loss of licence, legal liability, criminal penalties and/or remedial and/or compensation costs, damage to the
Group’s reputation and disruption to business activities. Furthermore, there could be an increase in the Group’s
costs (including those covering clean-up, recovery and reinstatement), a shutdown of the Group’s operations
and a loss of its investments in affected areas which could have a materially adverse effect on the Group’s
business, results of operations and overall financial condition. In certain circumstances, liability could be
imposed without regard to the Group’s fault in the matter.
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Insurance proceeds may not be adequate to cover all liabilities incurred, lost revenue or increased
expenses resulting from a major incident, particularly involving oil and gas E&P activities or the nuclear fleet.
There is also the possibility that insurance recompense is delayed resulting in material cash flow implications
for the Group.

The Group is exposed to risks associated with the existing EDF Energy, Nuclear Generation Group
Limited (ENGGL) nuclear fleet

The Group has announced its intention to divest its shareholding in UK nuclear power by the end of
2020 (please see “The Group may fail to identify and execute suitable acquisitions and divestments” below for
more information). Presently, the Group holds a 20 per cent. interest in Lake Acquisitions Limited, a nuclear
power generation business that owns eight nuclear power facilities, which are operated by ENGGL. The
remaining 80 per cent. of Lake Acquisitions Limited is owned by Electricité de France S.A. (EDF). This
investment exposes the Group to the risks associated with the nuclear industry (including the fleet’s operational
life, planned and unplanned outages and operational costs) and the impact of nuclear regulation (including HSE
regulation relating to the operation of nuclear power stations). The Group is also exposed to potential losses in
production due to the fleet’'s age, which could be further exacerbated by unforeseen plant closures, such as
those experienced at the Hunterston B plant in 2018.

Although ultimate responsibility for the safe operation of nuclear plants remains with ENGGL, the
Group, through its joint venture with EDF, is also exposed to the scope of the hazards associated with the
nuclear power generation industry.

Whilst the Group enjoys certain veto rights over certain decisions to be taken by Lake Acquisitions
Limited (or its affiliates), EDF has majority management control of such entities. As such, if the Group disagrees
with EDF’s management, it has limited rights to dispute and seek compensation in relation to such decisions.

In January 2017, the UK announced its intention to withdraw from the European Atomic Energy
Community (Euratom) following its decision to withdraw from the EU. Formal notice to withdraw was provided
in March 2017, although withdrawal will only become effective following negotiations on the terms of the exit.
This has been a priority area for the Government’'s Brexit negotiations to date, and the Government has
demonstrated that Nuclear Co-Operation Agreements with key third countries are on schedule to be finalised
before the Brexit date in 2019.

The Group is exposed to joint venture risks

In December 2017, the Group completed the combination of its European oil and gas E&P business
with Bayerngas Norge AS (Bayerngas Norge) to form a newly incorporated entity — Spirit Energy. The Group
owns 69 per cent. and Bayerngas Norge’s existing shareholders, led by SWM and Bayerngas GmbH, owns 31
per cent. The objective of combining the E&P business with Bayerngas Norge is to create a sustainable E&P
business, which will be capable of self-financing through operating cash flow in a range of commaodity price
environments. It is envisaged that Spirit Energy will create opportunities to accelerate and increase existing
cost saving programmes, improve efficiency and optimise the joint portfolio. The aim is to achieve this through
the sharing of technical expertise and best practice across the two portfolios, the streamlining of operations and
areas of overlap, and the delivery of corporate and administrative efficiencies.

Spirit Energy could encounter substantial difficulties in the implementation of the measures intended
to generate these synergies and/or fail to achieve the operational advantages and synergies expected. The
costs incurred to achieve these synergies could be higher than anticipated or there may be additional
unanticipated costs that exceed the expected synergies. The anticipated level of synergies is also based on a
number of assumptions, many of which depend on factors that are beyond the control of the Issuer, including
the materialisation of the risks relating to the activities of the Issuer, as indicated in this section “Risk Factors”.
Furthermore, as a joint venture with an independent management, the decisions made by Spirit Energy may
depart in some cases from the Group’s interests, and could leave the Group liable, as majority owner of Spirit
Energy, for fines levied on Spirit. Any of these factors, among others, could result in the actual level of revenue
and/or synergies being lower than anticipated.

Failure to successfully integrate the two businesses and to achieve the expected synergies and costs
related to the integration could materially and adversely affect the Group’s activities, result of operations,
financial conditions and prospects.

The Group is subject to numerous permit requirements and licencing regimes
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The operation of various businesses conducted by the Group requires authorisations from various
national and local government agencies. Obtaining necessary consents, permits, licences, authorisations and
certifications can be a complex, time-consuming process, and the Group cannot guarantee that it will be able
to obtain all such authorisations required for the operation of its various businesses in a timely manner. Failure
to obtain, renew or maintain such required authorisations or any disputes in connection with previously obtained
authorisations could result in the suspension or termination of the Group’s operations or the imposition of
material fines, penalties, liabilities and other costs and expenses that could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, the Group’s counterparties
may require that the Group maintains certain quality and safety certifications, or meets certain quality and safety
targets, during the term of a contract. Failure on the Group’s part to obtain and maintain these certifications or
meet these targets may result in the early termination of the respective contract or in the Group’s failure to be
considered for future contracts, either of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The Group is exposed to uncertain decommissioning costs

In addition to the risks associated with operating the Group’s E&P assets, the Group incurs liabilities
and costs associated with the decommissioning of such assets at the end of their lives. The Group’s estimates
of the cost of decommissioning are reviewed periodically and for producing assets are based on proven and
probable reserves, price levels and decommissioning technology at the relevant balance sheet date. For
storage assets, the estimated cost of decommissioning is based on the general economic performance of each
asset, including price levels and decommissioning technology at the relevant balance sheet date. As at 31
December 2017, the Group’s decommissioning provision was £2,684 million (as described on page 147 of the
annual report of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2017). The payment dates of total expected future
decommissioning costs are uncertain and dependent on the lives of the facilities, which are also uncertain.

The decommissioning of such assets is also regulated by law and may require the owners of
installations and pipelines to provide security or enter into decommissioning security agreements.
Decommissioning liabilities may be increased as the UK Secretary of State is entitled to make all relevant
parties (which may include former owners of such assets) liable for the decommissioning of an installation or
pipeline and may require financial information and decommissioning security at any time during the life of an
oil or gas field. This could result in increased costs for owners of installations and pipelines. Decommissioning
costs could exceed the Group’s estimated costs and the Group may be required to provide greater security for
decommissioning costs than expected, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of
operations and overall financial condition.

The Group’s stake in the existing ENGGL nuclear fleet will, following closure of the power stations,
give rise to decommissioning costs. Certain of ENGGL’s nuclear liabilities will be paid for from the Nuclear
Liabilities Fund which is underwritten by the UK Government. There is a risk that a breach of minimum
performance standards may result in the creation of disqualified liabilities, which would not be funded by the
Nuclear Liabilities Fund and would fall to ENGGL to discharge.

The Group may fail to execute change programmes

The successful delivery of business change is fundamental to the Group’s future success, and includes
organisational, cultural and technical transformation.

The delivery of certain large change programmes is technically complex. Trying to deliver too much
change could result in a stretch on resources, undermine systems integrity, threaten business continuity, cost
more than originally planned, or take longer than estimated to implement. Change programmes could also
suffer from quality, safety and compliance issues. Planned cost savings, value creation or other benefits may
not be realised and individual products may not be as widely accepted as anticipated.

As a result of business change, any failure to attract or retain capability and corporate knowledge, to
mobilise personnel quickly, or take into account trade union dialogue, could affect the Group’s ability to
successfully execute any future plans. Delays or challenges with organisational restructure, changes to billing
systems, the implementation of new products and entry into new markets, integration of acquisitions, meeting
expected growth targets, and asset disposal could adversely affect stakeholders’ perception of the Group, if not
successfully delivered.

The Group may fail to provide good quality customer service levels
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The delivery of good quality customer service is central to the Group’s business strategy. Customers
may switch supplier if they experience unacceptable customer service levels, or if it is perceived that the Group
is failing to maintain and improve service quality. Other factors that could result in customer churn include
pricing, marketing, retention activities, field operations and customer contact. In an environment where price
differentials may narrow, trust and service levels become increasingly important factors for the retention and
growth of the customer base. Any failure to maintain good quality customer service levels or to improve service
levels in certain parts of the Group’s business could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s reputation,
business, results of operations, and overall financial condition, as well as subject the Group to the risk of
increased regulatory scrutiny that could, in turn, result in sanctions from relevant authorities.

The Group may fail to identify and execute suitable acquisitions and divestments

The Group announced its intention to divest its shareholding in UK nuclear power by the end of 2020,
subject to alignment with its partner and considering the UK Government’s interests in this area.

The Group’s success in acquiring suitable assets and rebalancing its asset portfolio may be limited by
its ability to execute and finance acquisitions and to divest non-core assets, such as its shareholding in nuclear.
There can be no assurance that the Group will be able to dispose of non-core assets at a price that the Group
considers to be appropriate, or at all, or that any disposal will take place in the timeline envisaged by the Group.
This risk may be increased by the UK Government’s proposed foreign investment regime for merger control,
which includes new notification and approval requirements. Consultation on these proposals closes on 16
October 2018. Failure or material delays to successfully acquire and/or dispose of assets may leave the Group
increasingly exposed to portfolio concentration risk on both the supply and demand side. Over-concentration
or inappropriate balance of the Group’s portfolio may mean that a disruption in one asset or revenue stream in
the Group’s portfolio may have a disproportionate impact on the Group as a whole.

There can be no assurance that economic interests taken in businesses or assets will prove to be
good investments, or that any acquired business will be successfully integrated into the Group. Furthermore,
the Group may be required to refinance indebtedness incurred to fund such acquisitions, in the capital markets
or otherwise, and there is no guarantee that the Group will be able to do so on favourable terms or at all. Any
of these factors could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and overall
financial condition.

The Group may fail to attract and retain senior management, skilled personnel and capabilities

The attraction, development, retention, reputation and succession of senior management and
individuals with key skills are critical factors in the successful execution of the Group’s strategy, and operation
of the Group’s businesses. This is especially relevant in the highly competitive markets in which the Group
currently or plans to operate and at times when the business is subject to high levels of public scrutiny.
Insufficient capability and capacity in high calibre senior management and individuals, or any failure to make
appropriate succession plans, could compromise achievement of the Group’s strategic objectives and could
have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and overall financial condition.

Changes to the Group’s structure and business model, including entry into new and emerging markets,
could make attracting, retaining and motivating employees with the right capabilities in key roles across the
business more challenging. Employee engagement may decrease and industrial relations could worsen. This
primarily affects areas of the operational work force in upstream activities, the engineers in British Gas and the
staff in Direct Energy Services, and could also be triggered by changes to employment terms and conditions,
employment related court decisions, changes to pension, and as a response to a wider climate of trade union
unrest.

Labour disputes could have an adverse impact on the Group’s business

The Group, and some of the third parties it relies upon, has a significant unionised workforce. Labour
disputes or unrest, such as strikes, walkouts, claims or other labour disturbances may disrupt its business. A
significant strike or other labour dispute could impact the Group’s ability to provide upstream operations and
downstream residential and business services in one or more of its key markets and could impact the customer
service offered to residential and business supply customers. Any such disruption to the Group’s business could
negatively impact its reputation and may result in the loss of customers to competitors. The Group has not
taken out any insurance to cover losses due to business disruptions caused by labour issues. Consequently,
its reputation, financial position and operating results may be adversely affected by labour unrest.
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The Group may be significantly impacted by changing tax laws and tax rates

The Group is subject to tax rates and tax legislation applicable in the markets and jurisdictions in which
it operates. In particular, the Group is impacted by significantly higher rates of tax in its E&P businesses, most
notably in the UK, where the tax rate is 40 per cent. and in Norway where applicable tax rates are 78 per cent..
The Group’s E&P businesses are typically subject to different tax rates and regimes than those that apply to its
ES&S businesses. Consequently, the Group is exposed to changes, both in the general corporate tax regime
and specific tax regimes in relation to upstream production or other business segments. Tax laws, tax rates and
interpretation of legislation and compliance and disclosure requirements, with associated costs and penalties
change regularly.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development/G20 Inclusive Framework on Base
Erosion and Profit Shifting (the BEPS Framework) aims to generate changes to tax policy and systems across
many countries, including those where the Group has operations, in order to mitigate cross-border corporate
tax avoidance. In addition to measures put in place to implement the BEPS Framework, any action by
governments in jurisdictions in which the Group operates to increase domestic tax rates, impose additional
taxes, revise tax legislation or its interpretation could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
results of operations and overall financial condition.

Liquidity risk, including risk relating to margin obligations as a result of existing contracts, is inherent
in the Group’s operations

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations as they fall due. Exposure to
adverse conditions in debt or capital markets may hinder or prevent the Group from obtaining the financing
required to properly carry on its business activities. The liquidity risk within the Group is increased by the margin
cash arrangements contained in certain wholesale commodity contracts. As the Group is a net purchaser of
commodities, this means that it is generally required to deposit cash as collateral with margin counterparties
when wholesale prices fall. Further collateral can be required in times of price or weather volatility and
depending on which markets the Group uses to access for price hedging and for physical supply of commodity.
Cash forecasts identifying the liquidity requirements are produced at least monthly and these are assessed for
different scenarios, including the impact of significant changes in commodity prices or a credit rating downgrade,
however, the Group’s ability to access liquidity during periods of liquidity stress may be constrained as a result
of current and future economic and market conditions. A reduction of the Group’s liquidity could have a material
adverse effect on its business, results of operations and overall financial condition.

A downgrade in the Group’s credit rating may increase its costs of funding and limit its ability to trade
in commodity markets

The Group benefits from its strong credit rating (long-term debt: Baal stable outlook (Moody’s), BBB+
negative outlook (Standard & Poor’s)); (short-term debt: P-2 stable outlook (Moody’s), A-2 stable outlook
(Standard & Poor’s)). Any deterioration in the Group’s credit ratings may increase its costs of funding or
otherwise affect its ability to obtain credit from counterparties. The Group may also need to increase its levels
of margin or other security in its wholesale commodity contracts or face limits on its ability to trade in commodity
markets and to implement its hedging strategy. The Group would also need to increase its security for
decommissioning of assets. Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
results of operations and overall financial condition.

The Group has funding risks relating to its defined benefit pension schemes

The Group maintains a variety of pension schemes, including defined benefit schemes. The aim of the
Company and pension scheme trustees (as set out in each scheme’s Statement of Funding Principles) is to
meet the defined benefit liabilities with a portfolio of investments. The associated risks therefore relate to interest
rates, inflation, returns on assets and the longevity of scheme members; the mismatch between asset and
liability value movements is a consequence of targeting higher returns than those available from assets
effectively matching the liabilities. The defined benefit schemes’ investment portfolios contain a high proportion
of assets that are expected to provide a better return in the long term than alternative investments such as
bonds; however, in the short term, the difference between the value of liabilities and assets may vary
significantly, potentially resulting in a deficit having to be recognised on the Group’s balance sheet, alongside
an increase in the P&L expense and the funding requirements (cash and possibly contingent assets). The
current business environment, with changing long-term interest and inflation rates, long-term gilt yields,
corporate bond yields, equity values and credit spreads could also potentially result in a large deficit having to
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be recognised. A material weakening of the Group’s credit rating could result in higher pension contributions.
Furthermore, a quicker than expected increase in life expectancy and/or employee pensionable salaries
increasing above the rates assumed in the previous scheme valuation could be expected to increase the
defined benefit liabilities. Further changes in the accounting standards relating to defined benefit pension
liabilities could also lead to increasing deficits arising in the Group’s pension schemes. The pension schemes
in the UK are subject to triennial actuarial valuations which the Group is currently undertaking this year. If these
valuations identify that the pension schemes are in deficit, this could, subject to agreement between the
Company and the pension scheme trustees, result in additional deficit repair contributions being required,
further changes to members’ benefits and/or the Group offering more contingent assets or asset backed
contributions as further security. Any further requirement to make significant immediate cash contributions into
one or more of the Group’s defined benefit schemes to cover any such deficits could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, and overall financial condition.

Unanticipated actions by the pension regulators in relevant jurisdictions to the Group and/or any
material revisions to existing pensions legislation could require accelerated and increased contributions to the
Group’s pension schemes before, or concurrently with, any increased return to shareholders beyond the normal
dividend, which may restrict the Group’s financial flexibility. The pension scheme trustees could also seek
accelerated and increased contributions in the event of the Group planning to make material disposals, execute
a share buyback programme or take on more leverage through acquisitions or investment, which may restrict
the Group’s ability to carry out such transactions or investments. This could therefore have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and overall financial condition.

The Group’s business may be affected by the default of counterparties in respect of monies owed to
the Group

As a consequence of its normal operations, the Group often has significant amounts owed to it by its
energy and other counterparties. In addition, the Group often holds large cash balances on deposit with financial
institutions. There is a risk of a counterparty default, which may, among other things, reduce the Group’s cash
flows. The Group’s policy to limit counterparty exposures by setting credit limits for each counterparty, where
possible by reference to published credit ratings, cannot eliminate such exposure or absolutely mitigate such
risk, and such a counterparty default may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations and overall financial condition. The Group may also, from time to time, be owed amounts by its retail
and wholesale customers. A significant number of defaults could also adversely affect the Group’s business,
results of operations and financial condition.

The Group is exposed to shareholder activism

As shareholder activism continues to grow, UK public companies could be at risk of activists or
takeover activities — particularly consumer companies. An activist shareholder can leverage the equity stake
they hold in a company to put pressure on its board or management. The goals of activist shareholders, who
often have a comparatively small stake in a company, can be both financial — aimed at increasing shareholder
value — or non-financial changes in corporate policy, such as disinvestment from particular countries and
adoption of environmentally or ethically friendly policies. This can take several forms, including proxy battles,
publicity campaigns, shareholder resolutions, litigation, and negotiations with management.

Any campaign by investors to take control of the Group could cause significant management
distraction, be costly to defend or respond to and could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
results of operations and overall financial condition.

The Group is exposed to currency fluctuations

The Group has cross-border operational exposure in U.S. and Canadian dollars, Norwegian Krone,
and Euros, as well as a number of other currencies. Operational and capital expenditure cash flows may also
be in currencies other than Sterling, the Group’s reporting currency. The Group’s profitability may be adversely
affected if the results and cash flows associated with these international operations fall or cash outflows rise
because of currency fluctuations against Sterling.

It is the Group’s policy to use hedging instruments to manage the impact of currency fluctuations. To
the extent that any of the Group’s potential exposure remains unhedged, or such hedging is ineffective, the
value of its investments may be affected by fluctuations in currency. Adverse movements in currency rates may
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and overall financial condition.
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The Group is exposed to interest rate fluctuations

The Group is exposed to movements in interest rates, which affect the amount of interest paid on
borrowings and the return on its cash investments. If interest rates were to increase, the amount of interest paid
on floating rate borrowings would increase, as would the cost of funding investments. The Group uses derivative
financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to manage interest rate risk on long-term borrowings. To the
extent that any of the Group’s interest rate exposure remains unhedged, or such hedging is ineffective, adverse
movements in interest rates could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations
and overall financial condition.

The Group’s financial instruments may be exposed to benchmark reforms

The interest rates of some of the Group Notes, swaps and revolving credit facilities are linked to
reference rates such as the EURIBOR or LIBOR which are deemed to be benchmarks (each a Benchmark
and together, the Benchmarks) and which are the subject of recent national, international and other regulatory
guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others are still to be
implemented. These reforms may cause the relevant Benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, or
have other consequences which cannot be predicted.

Key international proposals for reform of Benchmarks include (i) IOSCO’s Principles for Oil Price
Reporting Agencies (October 2012) and Principles for Financial Benchmarks (July 2013), (i) ESMA-EBA’s
Principles for the benchmark-setting process (June 2013), and (iii) the Benchmarks Regulation on indices used
as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment
funds. In addition to the aforementioned reforms, there are numerous other proposals, initiatives and
investigations which may impact Benchmarks.

Any changes to a Benchmark as a result of the Benchmarks Regulation or other initiatives could have
an adverse effect on the costs of obtaining exposure to a Benchmark or the costs and risks of administering or
otherwise participating in the setting of a Benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements.
Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or participate
in certain Benchmarks, trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain Benchmarks or lead to
the disappearance of certain Benchmarks.

The potential elimination of the Benchmarks, or changes in the manner of administration of any
Benchmark, could require an adjustment to the terms and conditions, or result in other consequences, in respect
of any instruments linked to such Benchmark. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on
the value of and return on any such instrument.

FACTORS WHICH ARE MATERIAL FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING THE MARKET RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have
features, which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common
such features:

If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the Notes
concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner, which achieves
a similar effective return

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when
the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially
above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate
on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at
an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do
so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments
available at that time.

If the Issuer has the right to convert the interest rate on any Notes from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or vice
versa, this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned
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Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes, which may bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate
to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Where the Issuer has a right to effect such a conversion,
this will affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to
convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed
rate to a floating rate in such circumstances, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less
favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In
addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts
from a floating rate to a fixed rate in such circumstances, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing market
rates.

Notes that are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to
changes in market interest rates

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or
premium to their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than
prices for more conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of such
securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to more conventional interest-bearing securities with
comparable maturities.

Risks related to Notes generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:

The terms and conditions of the Notes contain provisions, which may permit their modification without the
consent of all investors and confer significant discretions on the Trustee, which may be exercised without the
consent of the Noteholders and without regard to the individual interests of particular Noteholders

The terms and conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to
consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all
Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who
voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The terms and conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of
Noteholders and without regard to the interests of particular Noteholders, agree to (i) any modification of, or to
the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the Notes or (ii)
determine without the consent of the Noteholders that any Event of Default or potential Event of Default shall
not be treated as such or (iii) the substitution of any successor in business to the Issuer or of a Subsidiary either
of the Issuer or any successor in business to the Issuer as principal debtor under any Notes in place of the
Issuer or any successor in business to the Issuer, in the circumstances described in Conditions 15 and 16 of
the terms and conditions of the Notes.

The Notes may be subject to withholding taxes in circumstances where the Issuer is not obliged to make gross
up payments and this would result in holders receiving less interest than expected and could significantly
adversely affect their return on the Notes

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative practice

The terms and conditions of the Notes are based on English law in effect as at the date of this Base
Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English
law or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus and any such change could materially
adversely impact the value of any Notes affected by it.

Investors who purchase Notes in denominations that are not an integral multiple of the Specified Denomination
may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued

In relation to any issue of Notes, which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified
Denomination, plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such
Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In
such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum
Specified Denomination in its account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a
definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a
principal amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.
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If such Notes in definitive form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes, which have
a denomination, that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and
difficult to trade.

Future discontinuance of LIBOR or any other benchmarks may adversely affect the value of Floating Rate
Notes which reference LIBOR or such other benchmarks

On 27 July 2017, the Chief Executive of the UK Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR,
announced that it does not intend to continue to persuade, or use its powers to compel, panel banks to submit
rates for the calculation of LIBOR to the administrator of LIBOR after 2021. The announcement indicates that
the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis is not guaranteed after 2021. It is not possible to predict whether,
and to what extent, panel banks will continue to provide LIBOR submissions to the administrator of LIBOR
going forwards. This may cause LIBOR to perform differently than it did in the past and may have other
consequences which cannot be predicted.

Investors should be aware that, if LIBOR were discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the rate of
interest on Floating Rate Notes which reference LIBOR will be determined for the relevant period by the fall-
back provisions applicable to such Notes. Depending on the manner in which the LIBOR rate is to be determined
under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, this may (i) be reliant upon the provision by reference banks of
offered quotations for the LIBOR rate which, depending on market circumstances, may not be available at the
relevant time or (i) result in the effective application of a fixed rate based on the rate which applied in the
previous period when LIBOR was available. Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the value or
liquidity of, and return on, any Floating Rate Notes which reference LIBOR.

The above-mentioned risks related to LIBOR may also impact other benchmarks in the future.
Investors in Floating Rate Notes which reference such other benchmarks should be mindful of the applicable
interest rate fall-back provisions applicable to such Notes and the adverse effect this may have on the value or
liquidity of, and return on, any Floating Rate Notes which reference any such benchmark.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate
risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this would
adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell its Notes

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market
does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at
prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary
market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market
risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the
investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more
limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities.

If an investor holds Notes, which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, it will be exposed to
movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of its holding. In addition, the imposition of
exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving payments on those Notes

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain
risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a
currency or currency unit (the Investor’s Currency) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk
that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency
or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's
Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’'s Currency
relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor’s Currency equivalent yield on the Notes, (2)
the Investor’s Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor’s Currency
equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to make payments in respect
of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or
principal.
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The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently increase
above the rate paid on the Fixed Rate Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an investment in
those Notes

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Issuer or the Notes.
The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors
discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by its assigning
rating agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit
ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EU
and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended), subject
to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances whilst the registration application is pending. Such
general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless
the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating
agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as
the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended). The list of registered and certified rating agencies
published by the ESMA on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the
status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory
measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list. Certain
information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out on the cover of this Base Prospectus.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with

this Base Prospectus and have been filed with the Financial Conduct Authority shall be incorporated in and
form part of, this Base Prospectus:

@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

the auditors’ report and audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements of the
Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 which appear on pages 102 to 200 (together
with the section titled “Additional Information — Explanatory Notes (Unaudited)” on pages 216 to 217)
of the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2017, including the information set out at the
following pages, in particular:

Independent Auditors’ Report to members of Centrica plc  Pages 102 to 109

Group Income Statement Page 110
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 111
Group Statement of Changes in Equity Page 112
Group Balance Sheet Page 113
Group Cash Flow Statement Page 114
Notes to the Financial Statements Pages 115 to 189
Company Statement of Changes in Equity Page 190
Company Balance Sheet Page 191
Notes to the Company Financial Statements Pages 192 to 200

Additional Information — Explanatory Notes (Unaudited) Pages 216 to 217

the auditors’ report and audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements of the
Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 which appear on pages 100 to 200 (together
with the section titled “Additional Information — Explanatory Notes (Unaudited)” on pages 219 to 220)
of the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2016, including the information set out at the
following pages, in particular:

Independent Auditors’ Report to members of Centrica plc  Pages 100 to 106

Group Income Statement Page 108

Group Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 109

Group Statement of Changes in Equity Page 109

Group Balance Sheet Page 110

Group Cash Flow Statement Page 111

Notes to the Financial Statements Pages 112 to 189
Company Statement of Changes in Equity Page 190
Company Balance Sheet Page 191

Notes to the Company Financial Statements Pages 192 - 200

Additional Information — Explanatory Notes (Unaudited) Pages 219 - 220

the independent review report and unaudited interim financial statements of the Issuer included on
pages 26 to 55 of the unaudited interim results for the six month period ended 30 June 2018; and

the Terms and Conditions of the Notes contained in the Base Prospectus dated 26 September 2013
(pages 38 to 63), Base Prospectus dated 26 September, 2012 (pages 33 to 57), the Base Prospectus
dated 27 September, 2011 (pages 38 to 59), the Base Prospectus dated 30 September, 2010 (pages
36 to 57), the Base Prospectus dated 28 August, 2009 (pages 35 to 56), the Base Prospectus dated
26 September, 2008 (pages 33 to 54), the Base Prospectus dated 28 September, 2007 (pages 32 to
53), the Base Prospectus dated 8 November, 2005 (pages 30 to 50), the Offering Circular dated 1
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October, 2002 (pages 18 to 39) and the Offering Circular dated 7 September, 2001 (pages 19 to 40),
in each case prepared by the Issuer in connection with the Programme.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and
approved by the UK Listing Authority in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. Statements
contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) shall to
the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise) be deemed to modify or supersede
statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Base
Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded,
constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus can be obtained from the
registered office of the Issuer and from the specified office of the Paying Agent for the time being in London.
Documents may also be viewed electronically and free of charge at
http://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/market-news/market-news-home.html.

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either not relevant for an investor or
are covered elsewhere in this Base Prospectus.

Any documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in
this Base Prospectus shall not form part of this Base Prospectus.

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to
information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes, prepare
a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a new Base Prospectus for use in connection with any
subsequent issue of Notes.

The Issuer has undertaken to the Dealers in the Programme Agreement (as defined in “Subscription
and Sale” below) that it will comply with section 87G of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

Any Notes issued under the Programme on or after the date of this Base Prospectus are issued subject
to the provisions herein. This does not affect any Notes issued prior to the date of this Base Prospectus.

Alternative Performance Measures

Certain alternative performance measures (APMs) are included or referred to in this Base Prospectus
(including the 31 December 2017 financial statements incorporated by reference). APMs are non-GAAP
measures used by the Group within its financial publications to supplement disclosures prepared in accordance
with other regulations such as International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). We consider that these
measures provide useful information to enhance the understanding of financial performance. The APMs should
be viewed as complementary to, rather than a substitute for, the figures determined according to other
regulatory measures. An explanation of each such metric's components and calculation method can be found
at pages 216 to 217 (incorporated by reference herein) of the Issuer's Annual Report and Accounts for the year
ended 31 December 2017.
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FORM OF THE NOTES
BEARER NOTES

Initial Issue

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes (including Exchangeable Bearer Notes) will initially be issued in the
form of a temporary global note (a Temporary Global Note) or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a
permanent global note (a Permanent Global Note and together with a Temporary Global Note, the Global
Notes, each a Global Note) which, in either case, will:

0] if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (NGN) form, as stated in the applicable
Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common safekeeper
(the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (Euroclear) and Clearstream Banking S.A.
(Clearstream, Luxembourg); and

(ii) if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, as stated in the applicable Final Terms,
be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the Common
Depositary) for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Where the Global Notes issued in respect of any Tranche are in NGN form, Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg will be notified as to whether or not such Global Notes are intended to be held in a
manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility. Any indication that the Global Notes are so to be held does
not necessarily mean that the Notes of the relevant Tranche will be recognised as eligible collateral for
Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any
times during their life as such recognition depends upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. The
Common Safekeeper for NGNs will either be Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or another entity approved
by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Upon deposit of the Temporary Global Note(s) with the Common Safekeeper or the Common
Depositary, as the case may be, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a
nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed. Depositing the Global
Notes with the Common Safekeeper does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible
collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue,
or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility
criteria.

Whilst any Note is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any)
and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will
be made (against presentation of the Temporary Global Note if the Temporary Global Note is not intended to
be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the
beneficial owners of interests in the Temporary Global Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have
purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable,
has given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received) to the Principal Paying Agent.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so
permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder
of a Note represented by a Global Note must look solely to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg for its
share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Global Note and in relation to all other rights
arising under the Global Notes, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. Such persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in
respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note and such
obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note in respect of each
amount so paid.
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Exchange

Temporary Global Notes

Each Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge to the holder) on or after the
Exchange Date either:

0] if the applicable Final Terms indicates that such Global Note is issued in compliance with the C Rules
or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable, in whole, but not in part, for definitive Bearer
Notes; or

(i) otherwise, in whole or in part, upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership (in a form to be

provided) for interests in a Permanent Global Note or, if so provided in the applicable Final Terms, for
definitive Bearer Notes or, if the Temporary Global Note is also an Exchangeable Bearer Note,
certificated Registered Notes.

Permanent Global Notes

Each Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge to the holder) on or after the
Exchange Date in whole but not, except as provided under “Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes”
below, in part for:

€) definitive Bearer Notes with, where applicable, interest coupons and talons attached either:

0] only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event; for these purposes, Exchange Event
means that (i) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 10) has occurred and is continuing
or (ii) if the Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg, the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of
holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease
business or have in fact done so and no successor clearing system is available. The Issuer
will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 if an Exchange Event
occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Global
Note) may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange; or

(i) at any time at the Issuer’s request; or

(b) if the Permanent Global Note is an Exchangeable Bearer Note, certificated Registered Notes upon the
holder of an interest in such Permanent Global Note giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent of its
election to exchange the whole of such G